COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, APPELLANT

v.

STANLEY GUIDROZ, RESPONDENT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Bryan Chushcoff

No. 14-1-03654-1

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By STEPHEN PENNER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 25470

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

A.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR			
	1.	The trial court erred when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements were inadmissible under Washington's traditional <i>corpus delicti</i> rule		
	2.	The trial court erred when it failed to apply the proper legal standard under Washington's traditional <i>corpus delicti</i> rule, to wit: whether the state's evidence, independent of the defendant's statements, established a <i>prima facie</i> case of the crime charged, but instead considered evidence put forth by the defense and weighed all of the evidence when ruling that the defendant's statements were inadmissible		
	3.	The trial court erred when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements were not admissible under RCW 10.58.035		
В.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR			
	1.	Did the trial court err when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements were inadmissible under Washington's traditional <i>corpus delicti</i> rule, where the State presented sufficient evidence to establish a <i>prima facie</i> case of the crime charged?		
	2.	Did the trial court err when it failed to apply the proper legal standard under Washington's traditional <i>corpus delicti</i> rule, to wit: whether the state's evidence, independent of the defendant's statements, established a <i>prima facie</i> case of the crime charged, but instead considered evidence put forth by the defense and weighed all of the evidence when ruling that the defendant's statements were inadmissible? .2		

	3.	Did the trial court err when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements were not admissible under RCW 10.58.035, where the alleged victim was "dead or incompetent to testify" and there "substantial independent evidence that would tend to establish the trustworthiness of the confession"?	
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	1.	Procedure	
	2.	Facts3	
D.	ARC	ARGUMENT9	
	1.	THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT THE DEFENDANT'S INCULPATORY STATEMENTS WERE INADMISSIBLE UNDER WASHINGTON'S TRADITIONAL CORPUS DELICTI RULE, BECAUSE THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF THE CRIME CHARGED	
	2.	THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO APPLY THE PROPER LEGAL STANDARD UNDER WASHINGTON'S TRADITIONAL CORPUS DELICTI RULE, TO WIT: WHETHER THE STATE'S EVIDENCE, INDEPENDENT OF THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS, ESTABLISHED A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF THE CRIME CHARGED, BUT INSTEAD CONSIDERED EVIDENCE PUT FORTH BY THE DEFENSE AND WEIGHED ALL OF THE EVIDENCE WHEN RULING THAT THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS WERE INADMISSIBLE	

3.	THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT
	THE DEFENDANT'S INCULPATORY STATEMENTS
	WERE NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER RCW 10.58.035,
	WHERE THE ALLEGED VICTIM WAS "DEAD OR
	INCOMPETENT TO TESTIFY" AND THERE
	"SUBSTANTIAL INDEPENDENT EVIDENCE THAT
	WOULD TEND TO ESTABLISH THE
	TRUSTWORTHINESS OF THE CONFESSION."18
CON	<u>ICLUSION</u> 21-22

Table of Authorities

State Cases City of Bremerton v. Corbett, 106 Wn.2d 569, 723 P.2d 1135 (1986)......9 State v. Aten, 130 Wn.2d 640, 927 P.2d 210 (1996)......10, 11, 12, 13, 14 State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 328, 150 P.3d 59 (2006)...12, 13, 14, 17 State v. Dodgen, 81 Wn. App. 487, 492, 915 P.2d 531 (1996)......9 State v. Dow, 168 Wn.2d 243, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010)......20, 21 State v. DuBois, 79 Wn. App. 605, 609, 904 P.2d 308 (1995)9 State v. Solomon, 73 Wn. App. 724, 727, 870 P.2d 1019 (1994)......9 State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 796, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995)11, 13 **Statutes** Rules and Regulations

RAP 2.2(b)(2)......3

A. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>.

- 1. The trial court erred when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements were inadmissible under Washington's traditional *corpus delicti* rule.
- 2. The trial court erred when it failed to apply the proper legal standard under Washington's traditional *corpus delicti* rule, to wit: whether the state's evidence, independent of the defendant's statements, established a *prima facie* case of the crime charged, but instead considered evidence put forth by the defense and weighed all of the evidence when ruling that the defendant's statements were inadmissible.
- 3. The trial court erred when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements were not admissible under RCW 10.58.035.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF</u> ERROR.

- 1. Did the trial court err when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements were inadmissible under Washington's traditional *corpus delicti* rule, where the State presented sufficient evidence to establish a *prima facie* case of the crime charged?
- 2. Did the trial court err when it failed to apply the proper legal standard under Washington's traditional *corpus delicti* rule, to wit: whether the state's evidence, independent of the defendant's statements, established a *prima facie* case of the crime charged, but instead considered

evidence put forth by the defense and weighed all of the evidence when ruling that the defendant's statements were inadmissible?

3. Did the trial court err when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements were not admissible under RCW 10.58.035, where the alleged victim was "dead or incompetent to testify" and there was "substantial independent evidence that would tend to establish the trustworthiness of the confession"?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

1. Procedure

On September 16, 2014, the State charged the defendant, Stanley Guidroz, with one count of manslaughter in the first degree. CP 10. The charges were based on the alleged death of his son, W.G., in January of 1983.

On April 2, 2015, the defendant filed a motion to suppress statements under Washington's *corpus delicti* rule, and specifically to suppress the defendant's admission that he had struck and thereby killed W.G. CP 11-17. In his brief, the defendant asserted facts intended to exculpate the defendant of the charge of manslaughter. CP 11-17.

On May 29, 2015, the State filed its response to the defendant's motion to suppress statements. CP 18-26.

On June 4, 2015, a hearing was held before Hon. Bryan Chushcoff,

Judge of the Pierce County Superior Court. CP 27-28. Following oral argument, Judge Chushcoff orally granted the defendant's motion and suppressed the defendant's inculpatory statements. CP 28.

On June 9, 2015, the State filed a motion to reconsider the order suppressing the defendant's inculpatory statements. CP 29-35. On June 11, 2015, the defendant filed a response, in which he again asserted facts designed to cast doubt on the crime charged. CP 36-68.

On June 12, 2015, a hearing was held before Judge Chushcoff. CP 69-70. Following oral argument, Judge Chushcoff denied the state's motion to reconsider. CP 70.

On July 9, 2015, Judge Chushcoff signed and filed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law; Order Suppressing Statements, CP 1-5, and an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice, CP 6-7. In the Order of Dismissal with Prejudice, Judge Chushcoff acknowledged that "the practical effect of the suppression order is to terminate the case, as described in RAP 2.2(b)(2). CP 6.

On August 6, 2015, the State filed its notice of appeal. CP 71-72.

2. Facts

On January 10, 1983, Tacoma Police were dispatched to Point

Defiance Park regarding a report of a missing three-year-old child, W.G.

Exh 1, p 1. The reporting party was the child's father, the defendant,

Stanley Guidroz. Exh 1, p 1. The defendant called the police at 19:42 hours from the Goldfish Tavern across the street from Point Defiance Park. Exh 1, p 1. The defendant claimed he had taken his son fishing earlier that day, leaving him in the car alone several times while he went out on the dock to fish. Exh 1, p 2. The defendant claimed to have been fishing until about 4:00-4:30, CP 19, then he and Wallace went to Point Defiance where they went for a walk near the rose garden and duck pond. Exh 1, p 3. The defendant claimed they met a couple with a child about Wallace's age. Exh 1, p 3. The children began playing and the defendant and the other man began talking and walked off conversing. Exh 1, p 3. They reached the waterfall, well out of sight of the duck pond, and the other man left. Exh 1, p 3. The defendant remained at the waterfall for approximately 10 minutes, then returned to find his son missing and the other family gone. Exh 1, p 3. The defendant stated he searched the area, then drove to the boathouse where they had been fishing, but was unable to find his son anywhere. Exh 1, pp 3-4. Multiple search and rescue teams from various agencies responded to search the areas for days, but Wallace was never found. Exh 5.

The defendant was questioned again by a different officer and his story changed. Exh 2, pp 2-3. Instead of waiting at the waterfall alone, he now claimed he and the other father returned to the duck pond together. Exh 2, p 2. When they didn't see the children or the other man's wife, they split up to search and then the other man disappeared as well. Exh 2, pp 2-

3. The defendant had been fishing with a friend, Hoyung Lee. Exh 1, p 2; Exh 3, p 4. Lee told investigators that the defendant actually stopped fishing and left around 2:30-3:30, up to two hours earlier than the defendant claimed. CP 19.

The defendant gave detailed descriptions of the couple and composite sketches were drawn. CP 19. Police spent a great deal of time looking for the suspects, showing the sketch to possible witnesses, and following up on tips regarding potential suspects. CP 19. The defendant was also considered a suspect, but the investigation was unable to determine what had happened to Wallace and was eventually put into inactive status. CP 19.

The defendant told police at the time of the disappearance that he had contacted a Pierce Transit bus driver during his search for Wallace and asked the bus driver if he had seen Wallace. Exh 4, p 1. The defendant stated the bus driver said he had not seen Wallace and the defendant continued his search. Exh 4, p 1. However, investigation revealed that of the eight bus drivers who might have been in the area at the time, not one of them remembered ever being asked about a missing boy. Exh 4, p 1.

In 2011, Tacoma Police Detective Gene Miller re-opened the investigation as part of Tacoma PD's cold case initiative. CP 20; Exh 3, pp 3. He noted the inconsistencies in the defendant's stories and also with the information provided by Lee. CP 20; Exh 3, p 4. Det. Miller also checked records and noted that on the day of the disappearance, the high

temperature was 48 degrees Fahrenheit, with 16 mph winds and nearly an inch of rain. CP 20. Also, the sunset was at 4:40, meaning the walk around the duck pond would have taken place after dark. CP 20.

Det. Miller conducted an extensive investigation to see if there was any evidence that Wallace might have been alive after January 10, 1983. CP 21-23. These efforts included tracking the whereabouts of both the defendant and Wallace's mother, and checking school records in those areas. CP 22. Det. Miller concluded:

Based on all of the above research, I can find nothing to suggest that Wallace was with his mother at any time following the reported disappearance. Chom Guidroz did not appear to have any family members in the United States. Additionally, there has been extensive coverage of the reported disappearance over the years by the media as well as the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children and other similarly motivated entities. Despite all of this, Wallace has never been located. This is easily explained by Stanley Guidroz' admission that he killed Wallace in 1983 and buried his remains as a means of disposal.

CP 22.

Det. Miller discovered that in 1982, there was a CPS referral wherein Wallace had suffered an injury to his head from being struck by a clothes iron. Exh 5, pp 4-5. The referral was made by hospital staff who believed the injury to be suspicious. Exh 5, p 4. When CPS investigated,

the defendant claimed Wallace had pulled the hot iron off of the ironing board by the cord. Exh 5, p 4.

Det. Miller also spoke with friends of the defendant, Valerie (David) McBride and Henry McBride, regarding the defendant's care of Wallace prior to his disappearance. Exh 6, pp 4-5. Valerie McBride stated that Wallace always had some sort of injuries that couldn't be explained, *e.g.*, bruises, black eyes, casts. Exh 6, p 4. She also stated that Wallace always seemed to be on the defendant's nerves and that the defendant seemed to feel stuck with Wallace. Exh 6, p 4. Henry McBride stated that the defendant always felt burdened by Wallace, and would sometimes dump Wallace off with him and Valerie, claiming to need a babysitter for a few hours then disappearing for days. Exh 6, p 5. They would find the defendant and he would seem angry at being found. Exh 6, p 5. Henry McBride also reported seeing injuries on Wallace, including black eyes and casts. Exh 6, p 5. He also reported seeing the defendant shake Wallace violently. Exh 6, p 5.

In March of 2011, Det. Miller received information that the defendant had been arrested in Louisiana for the murder of his wife (not Wallace's mother). Exh 3, p 3. The defendant admitted to the murder of his wife and is currently serving a prison sentence in Louisiana for that murder. Exh 3, p 3. Det. Miller traveled to Louisiana and spoke with the defendant about the disappearance of Wallace. Exh 3, pp 3-6. These interviews took place on April 9 and 10, 2011. Exh 3, pp 3-6. Initially, the defendant told a

similar story as before, but there were new inconsistencies. Exh 3, p 4. For example, he claimed Lee had his children with him and Wallace played with those children. Exh 3, p 4. He also stated he only looked for Wallace for 20 minutes rather than the two hours that had elapsed from the alleged disappearance until his phone call to police. Exh 3, p 4. He also completely omitted the story about going to the duck pond and encountering another family. Exh 3, p 4. Det. Miller eventually confronted the defendant with the inconsistencies and asked him to tell the truth about Wallace's disappearance. Exh 3, pp 4-5.

The defendant then attempted to implicate Lee and his ex-wife (Wallace's mother, now deceased). Exh 3, p 4. Det. Miller advised the defendant he didn't think that was true either. Exh 3, p 4. The defendant then admitted being involved in Wallace's death and disappearance. Exh 3, p 5. He stated that on the day in question, he had been caring for Wallace alone. Exh 3, p 5. After fishing, they had gone to his apartment in Fife. Exh 3, p 5. Wallace was in his high chair, fussing, and the defendant lost his patience, saying he "just lost it." Exh 3, p 5; Exh 7, p 5. He admitted to "backhanding" Wallace which sent the child spilling to the floor and hitting his head. Exh 3, p 5; Exh 7, p 5. The defendant said Wallace wasn't moving and he "knew he was dead." He checked for a pulse but there was none. Exh 3, p 5; Exh 7, p 5. He then loaded the body in to his car and drove to the Tacoma waterfront, where he buried Wallace in a shallow grave, before calling police and reporting him missing. Exh 3, p 5; Exh 7, p 6.

D. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT THE DEFENDANT'S INCULPATORY STATEMENTS WERE INADMISSIBLE UNDER WASHINGTON'S TRADITIONAL CORPUS DELICTI RULE, BECAUSE THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF THE CRIME CHARGED.

The trial court erred when it ruled that the defendant's inculpatory statements to Det. Miller were inadmissible under Washington's traditional *corpus delicti* rule. Under that rule, a confession is admissible if there is sufficient evidence, independent of the confession, to establish a prima facie case of the crime charged. Here, the State presented such evidence and the motion to suppress should have been denied.

Washington's traditional *corpus delicti rule* prohibits the admission of a confession absent prima facie evidence that a crime has been committed. *See*, e.g., *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 839, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). The purpose of the rule is to prevent a person from being convicted based on a confession to a crime that has not been committed. *Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 839 (citing *City of Bremerton v. Corbett*, 106 Wn.2d 569, 576–77, 723 P.2d 1135 (1986); *State v. Dodgen*, 81 Wn. App. 487, 492, 915 P.2d 531 (1996). *See also State v. DuBois*, 79 Wn. App. 605, 609, 904 P.2d 308 (1995), and *State v. Solomon*, 73 Wn. App. 724, 727, 870 P.2d 1019 (1994)).

The State need not produce independent evidence of "all the material elements of the statutory offense." *State v. Mason*, 31 Wn. App. 41, 48, 639 P.2d 800 (1982). Rather, "[p]rior to trial use of an accused's confession, the prosecution must present independent evidence which supports a logical and reasonable conclusion that (1) a specific kind of injury or loss occurred, and (2) some person's criminality was the source of that injury or loss." *Mason*, 31 Wn. App. at 48 (citing *State v. Fagundes*, 26 Wn. App. 477, 614 P.2d 198 (1980); and *State v. Zuercher*, 11 Wn. App. 91, 521 P.2d 1184 (1974)). Again, such independent evidence only needs to meet a *prima facie* standard, not proof beyond a reasonable doubt. *Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 839.

"The confession of a person charged with the commission of a crime is not sufficient to establish the *corpus delicti*, but if there is independent proof thereof, such confession may then be considered in connection therewith and the *corpus delicti* established by a combination of the independent proof and the confession. The independent evidence need not be of such a character as would establish the *corpus delicti* beyond a reasonable doubt, or even by a preponderance of the proof. It is sufficient if it *prima facie* establishes the *corpus delicti*." *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d 640, 655-56, 927 P.2d 210 (1996) (quoting *State v. Meyer*, 37 Wn.2d 759, 226 P.2d 204 (1951)).

"'Prima facie' in this context means there is 'evidence of sufficient circumstances which would support a logical and reasonable inference' of

the facts sought to be proved. The evidence need not be enough to support a conviction or send the case to the jury." *Aten*, 130 Wn.2d at 656 (citing *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 796, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995).

Here, the State produced sufficient evidence to satisfy
Washington's traditional *corpus delicti* rule and the defendant's
confession should have been ruled admissible.

The State presented the following evidence:

The defendant's three-year-old disappeared on January 10, 1983, and was never heard from again. During the initial investigation the defendant gave law enforcement two different accounts of how his son disappeared, and then gave a radically different third version in 2011 when interviewed by police, completely omitting the strange couple who allegedly abducted his son.

The defendant told police at the time of the disappearance that he had contacted a Pierce Transit bus driver during his search for Wallace and asked the bus driver if he had seen Wallace. The defendant stated the bus driver said he had not seen Wallace and the defendant continued his search. However, investigation revealed that of the eight bus drivers who might have been in the area at the time, not one of them remembered ever being asked about a missing boy.

In 1982, there was a CPS referral wherein Wallace had suffered an injury to his head from being struck by a clothes iron. The referral was made by hospital staff who believed the injury to be suspicious. When

CPS investigated, the defendant claimed Wallace had pulled the hot iron off of the ironing board by the cord.

Friends of the defendant, Valerie (David) McBride and Henry McBride, spoke with law enforcement regarding the defendant's care of Wallace prior to his disappearance. Valerie McBride stated that Wallace always had some sort of injuries that couldn't be explained, e.g., bruises, black eyes, casts. She also stated that Wallace always seemed to be on the defendant's nerves and that the defendant seemed to feel stuck with Wallace. Henry McBride stated that the defendant always felt burdened by Wallace, and would sometimes dump Wallace off with him and Valerie, claiming to need a babysitter for a few hours then disappearing for days. They would find the defendant and he would seem angry at being found. Henry McBride also reported seeing injuries on Wallace, including black eyes and casts. He also reported seeing the defendant shake Wallace violently.

In determining whether there is sufficient independent evidence under the *corpus delicti* rule, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 328, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (citing *Aten*, 130 Wn.2d at 658). The independent evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction, but it must provide *prima facie* corroboration of the crime described in a defendant's incriminating statement. *Bockrob*, 159 Wn.2d at 328. *Prima facie* corroboration of a defendant's incriminating statement exists if the

independent evidence supports a "'logical and reasonable inference' of the facts sought to be proved." *Bockrob*, 159 Wn.2d at 328 (citing *Aten*, 130 Wn.2d at 656 (quoting *Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d at 796, 888 P.2d 1177)).

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