No. 47880-3

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Appellant

٧.

STANLEY GUIDROZ, Respondent

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF PIERCE COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BRYAN CHUSHCOFF

RESPONSE BRIEF

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA Ph. 253-445-7920

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

The Court views the independent evidence and all reasonable inferences from it in the light most favorable to the state. Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 658.

Here, Mr. Guidroz was charged with first-degree manslaughter under RCW 9A.32.060(1)(a): A person is guilty of manslaughter in the first degree when he recklessly causes the death of another person. Criminal recklessness occurs when an individual knows of and disregards a substantial risk that a wrongful act (death) may occur and his disregard of such substantial risk constitutes a gross deviation from conduct that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation. RCW 9A.08.010.

Thus, to establish the *corpus delicti* for the crime, the state was required to establish two elements: (1) the fact of death and (2) a causal connection between the death and a criminal act. <u>Aten</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 655.

Here, apart from Mr. Guidroz's inculpatory statements in 2011 and 2013, the trial court rightly concluded the state had not overcome the first hurdle, as its evidence did not establish prima facie the fact of death. CP 4.

In <u>Hummel</u>, the Court detailed the type of evidence necessary to establish prima facie evidence of the fact of death when there is no recovery of a body. There, Hummel's wife discovered that he had been molesting their daughter. <u>State v.</u> <u>Hummel</u>, 165 Wn.App. 749, 755, 266 P.3d 269 (2012). Days after the disclosure, Mrs. Hummel unexpectedly disappeared, leaving behind her purse, clothing, makeup, and medications. <u>Id.</u> Hummel packed up the items, purportedly to send to her at her new job out of state, but later sold them at a garage sale. <u>Id.</u> Letters that were supposedly sent to the children after the mother's disappearance were later found to have been signed by Hummel. <u>Id.</u> at 756. Hummel continued to cash his wife's disability checks. <u>Id</u>. He

also charged with murder in the first degree, even though her body was never found. <u>Id.</u> at 757.

On appeal, Hummel challenged whether the state had established the *corpus delicti* of the crime of homicide sufficiently to allow admission of post-arrest inculpatory statements by Hummel. <u>Id.</u> at 758. The evidence presented showed she vanished suddenly and surprisingly; was never heard from again; she was close with her children and unlikely to abandon them; and without explanation failed to attend a daughter's birthday event. Moreover, the daughter told her of Hummel's molestation just days before she disappeared; he forged documents in her name, stole her disability pension for years and continued to molest his daughter. The Court reasoned that viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the state and all reasonable inferences in favor of the state, led to the reasonable and logical conclusion Hummel's wife was dead and it was as a result of criminal agency. <u>Id</u>. at 280.

Unlike <u>Hummel</u>, here the state's evidence fails to meet the requirements of the *corpus delicti* rule. The state presented evidence that Mr. Guidroz gave two slightly differing accounts of the events on January 10, 1983. The trial court aptly noted "We have these inconsistencies here, but they don't amount to much, they

don't of themselves, really - - they're just sort of slightly different versions, really just one slightly different version of how the thing went down." (6/4/2015 RP 30-31). The state openly agreed, "It is thin without the [inculpatory] statement, which is why we're having this argument." (6/4/2015 RP 34). The state acknowledged the death certificate issued by the medical examiner was as a result of the alleged confession, and should be set aside and not considered by court. (6/24/2015 RP 29).

On a motion for reconsideration of the suppression order, the state re-presented information: (1) bus drivers (*possibly* 8) had no recollection of a man asking about a child. The state agreed there was no information that identified the bus drivers, or whether there was reason to believe they were the only bus drivers who were present that day. (6/12/15 RP 11). (2) The state pointed to a CPS report, but produced no CPS records. Further, a police interview with the CPS worker confirmed that CPS cleared the investigation; no dependency action or criminal charges were filed against Mr. Guidroz. (3) The state presented the interviews with the McBrides, which occurred around 30 years after the child's disappearance. (6/12/15 RP 8-9). Although the McBrides alleged they saw the child in casts or a body cast, no medical records

regarding injuries were produced. Both also said they had never seen Mr. Guidroz hit the child. (Exh. 6 p.4-6). Lastly, (4) Mr. Guidroz's differing statements to officers on the day of the disappearance amounted to a 10 minute time difference of when he went back to collect his child. (6/12/2015 RP 24).

Prima facie corroboration of a defendant's incriminating statement exists if the independent evidence supports "a logical and reasonable inference of the facts sought to be proved." <u>Vangerpen</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 796. Here, the evidence as presented by the state does not even support a logical and reasonable inference of the fact of death. Even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the state, the whole of the evidence amounts only to the disappearance of the child not a death. The trial court rightly reasoned that a very young child who was abducted was not able to reach out to his family or fend for himself, in contrast to Mrs. Hummel who was an adult and would not have voluntarily abandon her children and job. In contrast to this case, the leap in logic was in <u>Hummel</u> was short.

In <u>Ray</u>, the defendant confessed to having placed his three year old daughter's hand on his genitals and was charged with first-

degree child molestation. <u>State v. Ray</u>, 130 Wn.2d 673, 926 P.2d 904 (1996). The independent evidence was:

"At approximately one in the morning, three-year-old L.R. came to her parents bedroom and asked for a glass of water. Ray, probably nude, accompanied his daughter back to her room. Ray later returned to his room upset and crying. Ray awakened his wife and talked to her. His wife became upset and rushed to check on L.R. After further discussion with his wife, Ray, who was still upset, placed an emergency call to his sexual deviancy counselor."

<u>Ray</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 680.

The Supreme Court reasoned that the facts suggested something had occurred, but it was "a leap in logic to conclude that any kind of criminal conduct occurred, let alone the specific conduct

of first degree child molestation." Ray, 130 Wn.2d at 680.

Similar to the case here, the Court stated

"The sparse facts surrounding Ray's getting a glass of water for his daughter fail to rule out ...criminality or innocence...Even though Ray speculatively could have molested L.R. and even though he had the opportunity to do so, the mere opportunity to commit a criminal act, standing alone, provides no proof that the defendant committed the criminal act."

Ray, 130 Wn.2d at 681. (internal citations omitted).

The Court viewed the emergency call to the therapist as

inconclusive: because although it showed he was disturbed by

something, it was inconclusive. The Court quoted *Aten*, "The *corpus delicti* doctrine is specifically designed to prevent convictions based solely on the defendant's sense of guilt..." The Court affirmed exclusion of the confession and dismissal of the charge. <u>Id.</u>

In <u>Bremerton</u> the Court reasoned:

"The *corpus delicti* rule was established by the courts to protect a defendant from the possibility of an unjust conviction based upon a false confession alone. The requirement of independent proof of the *corpus delicti* before a confession is admissible was influenced somewhat by those widely reported cases in which the 'victim' returned alive after his supposed murderer had been tried and convicted, and in some instances executed...Thus, it is clear that the *corpus delicti* rule was established to prevent not only the possibility that a false confession was secured by means of police coercion or abuse but also the possibility that a confession, though voluntarily given is false." <u>City of Bremerton v. Corbett</u>, 106 Wn.2d 569, 576-77, 723 P.2d 1135 (1986).

In 2013, Mr. Guidroz told Detective Miller that his 2011 confession was *false*. With more questioning the Detective obtained another confession from Mr. Guidroz. However, even with advanced searching techniques, the body was not where Mr.

Guidroz allegedly confessed to placing it. There is no direct evidence that the child is deceased. The *corpus delicti* rule is to prevent confessions that are given possibly out of guilt from being considered absent other independent evidence. The trial court correctly concluded that the independent evidence was insufficient to establish the first element, the fact of death.

Mr. Guidroz respectfully asks this Court to affirm the reasoning and ruling of the trial court.

B. The Trial Court Used The Correct Legal Standard In Determining The State Had Not Produced Sufficient Evidence.

Independent corroborative evidence is sufficient if it supports a logical and reasonable inference of criminal activity. <u>Aten</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 656. In making a determination whether the state has produced sufficient *prima facie* evidence, the truth of the state's evidence is assumed and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom. <u>State v. Pineda</u>, 99 Wn.App. 65, 77-78, 992 P.2d 525 (2000). However, such evidence must support a logical and reasonable inference of criminal activity only; if it also supports inferences of non-criminal activity, it is insufficient to establish the *corpus delicti*. Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 659-60. In other words, the

independent evidence must be consistent with guilt and

inconsistent with a hypothesis of innocence. <u>Brockob</u>, 159 Wn.2d

at 329.

Here, the state assigns error to the trial court's determination

process. (Br. of App. at 13-17). The trial court is tasked with

determining the sufficiency of the evidence. To that end, as the

court here stated, "I don't think it is okay to weigh the evidence.

One has to look at the inferences from it, though." (6/12/2015 RP

22). The court stated that his style was to take the evidence

presented and talk about it out loud, "about what I'm thinking about,

why I'm thinking the way I am." Id.

"When I say out loud, okay, the State sees these inconsistences, for instance, in the statement of Mr. Guidroz, then I try to say aloud what I those– the inferences are from those particular inconsistences or the particular accounts and then see where does that leave me and does that make any sense at all in terms of viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, which is what I'm supposed to be doing at this point. Does that get us to where the State needs to get in order to complete the motion from the defense?

Maybe it is semantics as to whether I'm weighing it or not. What I'm really trying to do is, I'm trying to say aloud what these implications are."

(6/12/2015 RP 23).

And again,

"I don't think that I weighed the evidence. I certainly didn't mean to." (6/12/2015 RP 27).

The *corpus delicti* rule does not require the court to evaluate the evidence in a vacuum. Here, it appears the state is asking, for example, the court to consider only that hospital staff reported Mr. Guidroz's son's head injury to CPS as *prima facie* evidence that he killed his child. (Br. of App. at 11-12). However, that same police report the state relied on included information that CPS investigated the report and no further actions were taken, the referral was cleared. The court is required to review the evidence and *make a determination* if it supports an inference of the facts sought to be proved. <u>Vangerpen</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 796. (emphasis added). The court does not weigh the credibility of the evidence as the evidence speaks for itself. <u>Pineda</u>, 99 Wn.App. at 79.

Similarly, even disregarding evidence that police reports document witnesses came forward in response to the policegenerated composite sketches, the polygraphs administered to the defendant showed one inconclusive and one that he passed, and the FBI affidavit, the court rightly questioned the state about the bus drivers, the CPS record, and the statement inconsistencies.

In <u>Aten</u>, the Court held the *corpus delicti* of manslaughter must include more than a failure to rule out criminality. <u>Aten</u>, 130

Wn.2d at 640. As in <u>Aten</u>, the court here tested the independent evidence, as it was tasked with the onerous burden of making a well-reasoned determination of whether the independent evidence supported a reasonable and logical inference of the fact of a death and criminal cause.

The state argues that the court weighed the evidence and raised the standard to "something akin to proof beyond a reasonable doubt" because the court was not "sure or satisfied that there is *evidence* that" the child "is dead, other than the fact that no one had seen him since 1983." (Br. of App. at 17). It was the court's job to determine whether the state had presented prima facie evidence of the fact of a death, not merely a failure to rule out criminality.

In <u>Pineda</u> this Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of a second-degree manslaughter charge because the state could not prove *corpus delicti*. The state could prove the fact of a death, but could not show by *prima facie* evidence that death was causally connected with negligence.

Mr. Pineda arrived home from work in the early morning hours. He saw his wife, son and nine day old daughter sleeping on the futon. Although the baby had been to the pediatrician a day

earlier and found to be healthy and bonding with her mother, Mr. Pineda noticed that she looked pale, picked her up and found that she was not breathing. <u>Id</u>. at 67. They called 911. The baby was pronounced dead; her body did not show any signs of foul play. Mrs Pineda did not manifest any emotion, although her husband openly wept. <u>Id</u>.

Officers interviewed Mrs. Pineda for 5 hours and told her they believed she intentionally killed her baby. She answered that what happened was accidental and the last thing she remembered was putting the baby on her chest.

On appeal, the state argued the trial court erred by ignoring evidence that the baby was only 9 days old⁵ and had seemed healthy just before her death; the medical examiner found nothing in his autopsy; the mother was present and fully dressed at the time of the death and that she had not shown emotion after the death. Id. at 80-81.

This Court determined that those facts, without more, did not support a logical and reasonable inference that anyone committed a crime or that the baby's death was the result of a criminal act.

⁵ Testimony at the hearing was that SIDS related deaths usually occur between about one month and six months of age. <u>Pineda</u>, 99 Wn.App. at 76.

"The reason a trial court is charged with determining sufficiency is so that it will not encroach on the fact-finding function of the jury." <u>Id</u>. at 78. Simply put, the court is to look at the presented evidence, construe conflicting evidence⁶ in favor of the state, and determine whether what is left reasonably and logically supports the inference of a crime and criminal activity.

Here, the court did exactly as the rule requires: "The *corpus delicti* doctrine generally is a principle that tests the sufficiency or adequacy of evidence, other than a defendant's confession to corroborate the confession." <u>State v. Dow</u>, 168 Wn.2d 243, 250, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010). Here, the court looked at the evidence presented by the state, tested the sufficiency, viewed it in favor of the state, and determined the evidence was insufficient to support a logical and reasonable inference that Mr. Guidroz committed the crime of manslaughter.

C. <u>The Trial Court Correctly Interpreted And Applied RCW</u> <u>10.58.035</u>

Determining the admissibility of a defendant's statement under RCW 10.58.035 is a mixed question of law and fact. The

⁶ As noted above, because the state has not challenged any of the findings of fact, they are verities on appeal thus, there is no conflict in the evidence.

application of law is reviewed *de novo*. State v. Law, 110 Wn.App. 36, 39, 38 P.3d 374 (2002).

RCW 10.58.035 permits a lawfully obtained and otherwise admissible statement of a defendant to be admitted when independent proof of the crime is absent, the alleged victim is dead or incompetent, and the defendant's statement is found trustworthy based on a nonexclusive set of statutory factors that a court must consider. Washington courts have held that the statute applies only to admissibility of evidence. <u>Dow</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 252.

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